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Four pastors succeeded Father Condon between 1905 and 1911.  The parish continued to 
grow during these years, and in 1911 Rev. Eugene Kiernan was assigned to the parish.   
 

Father Kiernan was born in Ireland and ordained in 1907 in 
Baltimore, Maryland.  He came to Avoca, Wisconsin in 
1908 , where he was pastor of St. Joseph’s Parish in Avoca 
and St. Malachy’s in Clyde.  In 1911 he was transferred to 
Reedsburg as pastor of Sacred Heart and its two mission 
churches.  (In 1935 the three parishes were combined.)    
 
In the early “twenties” a Chapel was built on the northern 
end of the basement of the Sacred Heart Church. Its 
function was primarily to conserve energy during the 
winter months. A stove in the right hand corner of the 
chapel served to heat the chapel. Daily Mass was held in 
the Chapel, and Catechism classes were held there as well 
on Saturday mornings. Father Kiernan was the “solo” 
instructor for all ages of children. Confessions were held in 
the church basement during the winter months without any 
type of heat. 

 
In about 1928, summer school sessions lasting two weeks began. These sessions were 
taught by Sisters of a religious order and prepared children for their First Holy 
Communion and other religious instructions.  
 
[Dave Knight , editor of the Reedsburg Times Press, wrote the following in 1978—the 
year the parish celebrated its 100th Anniversary] 

The mellow brogue of Fr. Kiernan was to resound from the pulpit at Sacred Heart 
for 54 years, a term of duty in one place that is unheard of in today’s system of 
rotating assignments for parish priests. 
 
Until the congregations in Dellona, Winfield and Reedsburg were consolidated, 
Fr. Kiernan had been following a routine of saying two Masses in Reedsburg one 
week, one Mass in Reedsburg and one in Dellona the next week, and one Mass in 
Reedsburg and one in Winfield the third week. 
 
With the consolidation came talk of establishing a 
Catholic school for the parish.  After almost 20 years of 
planning and fund raising, ground was broken in 
December 1954 for the school that now stands on Oak 
Street. 

 
While pastor, Father Kiernan administered a growing 
congregation and built not only a parish school, but also an 
auditorium and a convent.  He was the only pastor for over 50 

 
 

Fr. Eugene Kiernan,  
circa 1912 
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years before retiring in 1965.  He remained in Reedsburg after his retirement and died in 
1972.  He is buried in Calvary Cemetery in Reedsburg. 
 
The parish was assigned seven associate pastors during Father Kiernan’s term, beginning 
in 1948.  Rev. Albert Schubiger served from 1948-
1953; Rev. Joseph Braig, from 1953-1956; Rev. 
Wayne Turner from 1956-1957; Rev. Roman 
Wiedholz from 1957-1958; Rev. Thomas Lovell 
from 1958-1963; and Rev. G. W. Fox from 1963-
1966. 
 
After Father Kiernan retired, he was replaced by 

Father Joseph Brickl.  
During Father Brickl’s 
tenure (1965-1969), a 
Parish Council was 
formed, a school board 
was created, and plans for 
a new church were begun.  
The church was actually 
completed and dedicated under another pastor, Father Donald 
Lins, who was pastor from 1969-1972. 
 
 
 

 
[Dave Knight,  Reedsburg Times-Press, October 1978]: 
 

Fulfilling a master plan to have a new church and rectory near the school, 
planning began in 1966 for the third church.  In 1968, work began on a 
modernistic structure reflecting the new liturgy developed at the Second Vatican 
Council called by Pope John XXIII.  A fan-shaped building featuring earthy colors 
and a . . . sky dome above the altar, the new church on Sixth and Willow was 
dedicated in the summer of 1969.  Two years later, the venerable red brick church 
on Fourth Street was razed. 

One article was saved from that church, however.  The bell from its high steeple is 
now set in a cross tower near the entrance of the new church.  Perhaps it is that 
bell that best symbolizes . . .  Sacred Heart . . .old and time-worn, it does not at all 
look out of place in its modern setting. . . . Like the old bell, the parish has 
weathered many generations of change.  But, like the old bell moving from old 
settings to new, Sacred Heart has moved from old settings to new and it has never 
found itself out of place.   

 

Fr. Kiernan and Bishop O'Connor 
celebrate Fr. Kiernan’s 50th 

Anniversary as a priest. 

 

Fr. Brickl 
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In 1972, Father Eugene Graham became 
pastor of Sacred heart with Father Douglas 
Dushack as associate.  For the next four to 
five years these priests helped continue the 
work of the Church in further imple-
menting the vision of the Second Vatican 
Council.  Father Graham also reorganized 
all the parish records, updating information 
for the registry and copying original 
documents that would have otherwise 
deteriorated, including records dating from 
1872.   

 
Father Dushack was replaced by Father 
Thomas F. Baxter in 1976 and Father 
Graham by Father Delbert D. Klink in 1977.   
 
The parish’s 100th anniversary was 
celebrated on October 29, 1978, with Bishop 
George O. Wirz, Auxiliary Bishop of 
Madison, as the principal concelebrant and 
homilist.  A reception followed in the school 
gym.   
 
 

With a population growth in Reedsburg spurred by the expansion of the city’s industrial 
park, the parish population also began to expand.  A Director of Religious Education was 
hired from the Sinsinawa Dominicans to help with the growing need.  A parish Liturgy 
Committee was created to help with preparation of the parish liturgies and liturgical 
ministries. 
 

In 1979, Father Clarence Koch was assigned to replace Father 
Baxter and became the last associate priest to be assigned to the 
parish.  The dwindling number of diocesan priests meant that 
fewer churches would have associate 
pastors to help in their parishes.   
 
In 1981 Father Gerald P. Vosen was 
assigned as pastor of the parish.  With 
the absence of an assisting priest, new 
positions were created enlisting both 
religious and lay help.  A Pastoral 
Minster was hired, and the Director of 
Religious Education was hired full-time.  

Also added to the staff was a part-time liturgist. 

 

Fr. Dushack 
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In 1989, Father Donald J. Wiecki was sent to replace Father Vosen.  
During Father Wiecki’s term, the convent was abandoned due to a 
loss of Dominican sisters in teaching positions at the school.  In 
1994, the convent was re-designed into kindergarten and pre-
kindergarten classrooms.  A part-time music director was added to 
the staff. 
 
 
Father Thomas J. Monaghan 
was assigned as pastor in 
2000.  He has worked with 
parish leadership to create 
long-term financial planning; 

has hired a full-time music director and a parish 
nurse; and has overseen  the acquisition of Sixth 
Street from the city of Reedsburg to create an 
undivided piece of parish property and to build a 
parking lot with an enhanced handicap-accessible 
entry. 
 
In 2003, a private home on Eighth Street was 
acquired by the parish to serve as a rectory.  The 
former rectory serves as a parish center with 
offices, meeting rooms, and classroom space. 
 
Today, Sacred Heart Parish is comprised of over 
900 families with an annual operating budget of 
over $ 1 million.   The parish supports a staff of 38  and has over 300 parishioners 
actively involved in its ministries and auxiliary organizations (see listing following this 
article).  It is advised by both a pastoral and a finance council with the help of seven 
working boards:  Building & Grounds, School, Religious Education, Liturgy & Music, 
Youth Ministry, Human Concerns, Justice & Peace.   
 
The future of Sacred Heart Parish looks promising.  It has a committed group of 
parishioners, pastoral leadership, and programs that are meeting diverse needs.  In another 
year, two parishioners will be ordained as permanent deacons.  The big question for all 
parishes at this time concerns the shortage of priests. Hopefully, Sacred Heart will 
continue to have a resident pastor. 

 
Fr. Wiecki,  
circa 1999 

 

Fr. Monaghan, 2002 


